Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

Full List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2009

Creative Problem Solving For GeneralEducation Intervention Teams: Examining Student Outcomes

Jennifer S. Sears Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Sears, Jennifer S., "Creative Problem Solving For GeneralEducation Intervention Teams: Examining Student Outcomes" (2009). *Full List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1176. https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1176

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in Full List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

JENNIFER S. SEARS

Education

Olivet Nazarene University, Bourbonnais, IL - B.S., May 2001 Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN - M Ed., May 2002 Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN - Ph.D., December 2009

Professional Experiences

Porter School Psychology Clinic, Practicum, 2001-2003

Covered Bridge Special Education District, Indiana, Practicum, January 2002-June 2003 READ Clinic, Practicum, 2003

Gibault, Inc., Indiana, Internship, May-August 2003

South Bend Community School Corporation, Indiana, School Psychology Intern, August 2003-June 2004

Cypress Fairbanks Independent School District, Texas, Predoctoral Internship-Approved by the American Psychological Association, August 2004-July 2005 Joint Services for Special Education, Mishawaka, Indiana, Career, School

Psychologist, August 2005-Present

Conference Presentations and Publications

Thorsen, C., & Sears, J. S. (2003, March). Facilitated Individualized Education Program Initiative, Indianapolis, IN.

- Moreno, M., & Sears, J. S. (2003, May). *Creative Problem Solving in Your Wraparound Process*. Presented at Systems of Care Conference, Indianapolis, IN.
- Bahr, M., Sears, J. S., Walker, K., Arroyo, S., Hampton, E., Phipps, J., Wyndham, A., & McKinney, A. (2003, October). *The Use of Creative Problem Solving with General Education Intervention Teams*. Presented at Indiana Association of School Psychologists, Indianapolis, IN.

Thorsen, C., & Sears, J. S. (2003, October). *Parent/School Collaboration in IEP Conferences*. Presented at the Indiana Association of School Psychologists, Fall Conference, Indianapolis, IN.

Bahr, M., Walker, K., Sears, J. S., Arroyo, S., Hampton, E., McKinney, A., & Wyndham, A. (2004, April). *Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams*. Presented at the National Association of School Psychologists, Annual Convention, Dallas, Texas.

Bahr, M. W., Walker, K., Hampton, E. M., Buddle, B., Freeman, T. Ruschman, N. et al. (2006). Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams: A two-year evaluation study. *Remedial and Special Education*, 1, 27-41.

Awards:

Paul A. Witty Scholarship, 2002-2003

Liam Grimley Professional Development Award, Spring 2003 and Spring 2004 Herman Becker Award for Outstanding Doctoral Student, Spring 2004

, •

CREATIVE PROBLEM SOLVING FOR GENERAL EDUCATION INTERVENTION TEAMS: EXAMINING STUDENT OUTCOMES

A Dissertation Presented to The College of Graduate and Professional Studies Department of Communication Disorders and Counseling, School, and Educational Psychology Indiana State University Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Jennifer S. Sears

December, 2009

UMI Number: 3394734

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3394734 Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

COLLEGE OF GRADUATE AND PROFESSIONAL STUDIES INDIANA STATE UNIVERSITY TERRE HAUTE, INDIANA

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

This is to certify that the Doctoral Dissertation of

Jennifer S. Sears

entitled

Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams: Examining Student Outcomes

has been approved by the Examining Committee for the dissertation requirement for the

Doctor of Philosophy degree in

Guidance and Psychological Services (School Psychology)

December 2009

12-2-09 William Littlejohn, Ed.D. Date Date Michael h.D. Christine D. MacDonald, Ph.D. Date Chair 213/09 Jay Gatrell, Ph.D. Date

Dean of the College of Graduate and Professional Studies

ABSTRACT

The Individuals with Disabilities Act 2004 (IDEA, 2006) emphasizes that examining a student's responses to interventions, and knowing the variables that better predict student outcomes, will improve outcomes for students going through the intervention process. This study examined four issues regarding a specific intervention process, Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams (CPS for GEI): (a) whether students referred to the CPS for GEI teams process progressed differently based on student outcomes relative to the area of concern; (b) whether the overall quality of the action plans differed across schools; (c) whether there was a difference in student outcomes across schools; and (d) whether the process had an impact on student outcomes in terms of problem-solving components, including definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on student strengths.

Six CPS for GEI trained teams participated in the study with 76 individual cases reviewed, but only 32 cases included student outcomes. Data used, including a Team Accomplishment Sheet (TAS) and individual Action Plans, were completed by the schools and were scored against a rubric replicated from Telzrow (2000) of best practice indicators. Student outcome data were examined based on the student's reaching the goal set by the team. Findings indicated that the distribution of student outcomes did not differ significantly by area of concern. The overall quality of the action plans between schools differed significantly and when teams developed better plans they tended to have better student outcomes. Finally, having a quality goal was positively correlated with student outcomes. Therefore, this study suggests that through the use of CPS for GEI, educators can meet the requirements of the law and monitor a student's progress by focusing on these components.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for allowing me to come this far and helping me persevere to reach my goals. Second, I would like to thank all of my family for all their loving support, prayers, and encouragement throughout my life. I would especially like to thank my husband, Andrew, for showing me unconditional love and support. He has set aside many of his goals in order for me to pursue mine, and has made many sacrifices on my behalf. I could not have done this without him. I would also like to acknowledge our precious children, Landon and Cambrie. We were blessed with them during the dissertation process. Although they innocently distracted me from working on the dissertation because they are so adorable, Landon and Cambrie have been a great motivation for me to finish the degree requirements.

I would like to sincerely thank the members of my dissertation committee- Dr. MacDonald, Dr. Bahr, and Dr. Littlejohn- for their continued support, encouragement and patience. I sincerely appreciate the countless hours they have poured into my dissertation as well as throughout my educational and professional development.

In addition, all of the Blumberg Center staff were exceptionally supportive of this research project. In particular, Dr. Littlejohn and Bonnie Buddle opened the doors for this opportunity. Dr. Nellis kept the doors open by allowing me to use the data the Blumberg Center collected via a grant from the Indiana Department of Education. Of course, I

v

would also like to thank Esther Anderson who has been incredibly accommodating by collecting all the data and spending hours preparing it for analysis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESix
INTRODUCTION
Background to the Problem5
Summary and Critique
The Current Study
METHODS
Participants
Instruments
Procedures43
Design and Analysis44
RESULTS
Student Outcomes by Area of Concern
Quality of Plan by School49
Student Outcomes by Schools
Student Outcomes and Problem-Solving Components50
DISCUSSION

Student Outcomes by Area of Concern	52
Quality of Plan by School	53
Student Outcomes by School	54
Student Outcomes and Problem-Solving Components	56
Limitations	58
Future Research	60
Implications for GEI Teams	61
REFERENCES	64
APPENDIX A – BEST PRACTICE INDICATOR TABLE	75
APPENDIX B – TEAM ACCOMPLISHMENT SHEET (TAS)	76
APPENDIX C – ACTION PLAN	78
APPENDIX D - RUBRIC	79

viii

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Frequencies and Percentages of Student Outcome Ratings	
	by Area of Concern7	0
Table 2.	Means and Standard Deviations of Student Outcomes by Area of Concern7	1
Table 3.	Means and Standard Deviations of Quality of Overall Plan by School7	2
Table 4.	Average Student Outcomes by Schools7	3
Table 5.	Correlations Between Problem-Solving Components7	4

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Although the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Amendment of 1997 and reauthorization of IDEA in 2006 do not specifically address school-based teams, they have many implications for school-based teams (Telzrow & Tankersley, 2000). School-based teams expand the role of service provisions, thereby enabling educators to meet IDEA regulations at both the pre-service and in-service levels. One way in which students can be served by school-based teams is through general education intervention teams. Indiana's Special Education Rule (Indiana State Board of Education, 2002; Indiana State Board of Education, 2008) requires Indiana's schools to have in place a written system, at the building level, of methods and procedures used to address academic or behavioral difficulties that are impacting educational performance. However, the manner in which a school-based team is to be conducted is not specified. Most schools meet the requirements of the law through the use of intervention teams. Even though the purpose of an intervention team is to improve student outcomes, thus far the literature lacks studies examining such outcomes. The present study examines one intervention team approach, Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention (CPS for GEI) teams, as related to student outcomes.

The present study used Upah and Tilly's (2002) conceptual work on quality interventions and Telzrow, McNamara, and Hollinger's (2000) work to determine best practice indicators and develop a rubric based on these problem-solving components. Specifically, Upah and Tilly suggest that the field of school psychology, as a whole, has shifted towards developing interventions to enhance student outcomes. This is also supported by the National Association of School Psychologists (NASP; e.g., Thomas & Grimes, 2002) and other researchers (e.g., Telzrow et al.). This means that school psychologists and school-based teams will need to assess student progress based on designing and implementing interventions and evaluating student outcomes. In order to evaluate interventions, several problem-solving components to use were listed by Telzrow et al. and Upah and Tilly. These problem-solving components include: a behavioral definition of the problem, baseline data, clearly identified goal or target behavior for student, hypothesized reason for the problem, systematic step-by-step action plan, treatment integrity, data including student response to intervention, direct comparison of the student's postintervention performance with baseline data, and student outcome.

Telzrow et al. (2000) examined the relationship between problem-solving and student outcomes by studying 227 multidisciplinary teams. These teams were recruited on a voluntary waiver through Ohio's network of 16 Special Education Regional Resource Centers. The design and implementation of training and technical assistance to the teams was coordinated through the Special Education Resource Center. Two instruments were used for the study. The first was a Problem Solving Worksheet (Telzrow, 1995) that examined behavioral descriptions of the problem, baseline data, measurable goals, hypothesized reason for the problem, systematic interventions plan, evidence of treatment integrity, data on student response to intervention, and comparison of student data with baseline data. The second tool was a case evaluation instrument, or rubric, developed to evaluate the fidelity of problem-solving (i.e., the implementation of problem-solving in an applied setting and the degree of student change), accuracy of the description to what is involved in problem-solving, and student outcomes. The teams were instructed to submit case documentation for one student, which included a completed Problem Solving Worksheet and an Evaluation Team report, both completed by the team. The case submitted was to be the "best case" documentation chosen by the individual teams.

The case documentation was then evaluated using the scoring rubric. A Likert scale scoring rubric was used to evaluate the fidelity of problem-solving and the degree of student change. For the scoring rubric, a Likert score of 1 indicated no elements were evident based on the documentation provided; a score of 3 indicated some elements were present; and a score of 5 reflected all of the elements needed for the component were evident. Telzrow and two graduate students scored the data, which yielded high interrater agreement (.87 to .97 for all components). The fidelity of the problem-solving implementation was evident in the mean rating for each of the problem-solving components. Ratings of implementation for six of the eight components were significantly correlated with the student outcome ratings. These data were analyzed using stepwise multiple regression to determine what indicators gave the highest fidelity rating.

3

The order of the predictor variables was determined by the relationship with student outcomes. Based on the results of this analysis, both the Behavioral Definition of the Problem and Clearly Identified Goal had the highest scores, and both Hypothesized Reason for the Problem and Treatment Integrity had the lowest scores.

Telzrow et al. (2000) noted two limitations to the study. First, sample composition was a limitation because the researchers did not have control over site selection, so it was possible that the sample used for the study was composed of schools that were committed to school-based change and problem-solving approaches. The second limitation relates to records keeping. The information for the study was collected through case documentation, so it is possible that the schools implemented problem-solving components correctly, but that this was not reflected in the case documentation. At the same time, it is also possible that the teams generated elevated self-ratings of their work, which makes the data vulnerable to a misrepresentation of the actual work.

Based on the work of Telzrow et al. (2000), and the CPS for GEI team process, the current study examined six problem-solving components that evaluated interventions generated by CPS for GEI teams and affected student outcomes. These indicators include (a) definition of the problem, (b) baseline data, (c) goal setting, (d) action plan, and (e) student outcome data. Furthermore, based on the unique approach of CPS for GEI teams process and the literature based on Positive Behavioral Supports, a sixth problem-solving component was developed and is named (f) interventions built based on the student's strengths. It is important to study the fidelity of these problem-solving components and the effects on students due to the fact that many schools employ problem-solving components (Carter & Sugai, 1989). Thomas and Grimes (2002) represent these problemsolving components as "best practice," and the components are implemented in some states' departments of education (e.g., Iowa).

Background to the Problem

Both IDEA (Telzrow & Tankersley, 2000) and Article 7 (Title 511 Article 7, 2008) require a school-based intervention assistance process to assist students in the general education setting who appear to be struggling academically or behaviorally, but the procedures for such are not specified. Research (e.g., Buddle et al., 2005) indicates that many schools have implemented intervention teams at the building level in order to comply with federal and state special education mandates. The literature shows that different terms have been used both in Indiana and in other states, and have included, but are not limited to, Prereferral Intervention Teams (Graden, Casey, & Christenson, 1985), Teacher Assistance Teams (Chalfant, Pysh, & Moultrie, 1979), General Education Intervention Teams (Grimes, 2001; McKinney, 2001), and Mainstream Assistance Teams (Fuchs, Fuchs, Bahr, Fernstrom, & Stecker, 1990).

Just as the names of school-based intervention teams differ, the ways in which the general education intervention teams are organized also differs. Buddle et al. (2005) reported that the school-based intervention teams studied are being used to assist students who are in need of academic and/or behavioral supports. This support happens prior to or in conjunction with a referral to special education services. School-based intervention teams also function in other ways. For instance, Chalfant et al. (1979) studied teams called Teacher Assistance Teams (TAT) and found that there were three members who

had the goal of helping the teacher obtain assistance for students who were having difficulties in the classroom. The TAT process was later expanded upon by Hayek (1989) to include staff training and monitor attitudes toward the TAT process.

Another way in which school-based teams function was studied by Bahr, Whitten, Dieker, Kocarek, and Manson (1999) who examined school-based intervention teams across three states. They found that the majority of teams were identified as prereferral teams. Administrators were most frequently recognized by respondents as the team leaders. According to team members, special education teachers were viewed as most knowledgeable and best able to identify problems (i.e., "definition of the problem" [Telzrow et al., 2000]). In addition, verbal contact and follow-up meetings were rated as the most frequent type of follow-up procedures used by teams. Teacher judgment was the most frequently used type of quality index, followed by the use of team-assigned responsibilities to assist with both interventions and permanent products.

An additional function of a school-based intervention team includes meeting the diverse needs of students. Bahr and colleagues (1999) reported that school-based intervention teams are one approach to service delivery that has the potential to help meet the diverse needs of students. According to Zins, Heron, and Goddard (1999), once a need in the area of academic, behavioral, or social domains is established, Intervention Assistance Programs, which is one type of school-based intervention process, needs to be applied in a joint, systematic problem-solving method during which appropriate interventions are arranged. Furthermore, it was suggested that the interventions need to be developed and implemented before making a referral for special education assessment.

Sheridan, Welch, and Orme (1996) conducted a literature review to investigate empirically-based outcome research that had been published since 1985 on the topic of traditional consultation approaches in order to (a) analyze and critique different methodological features of recent research, (b) draw conclusions about the available outcome research, and (c) provide ideas for future research. Although their focus was on consultation (i.e., triadic service delivery involving a consultation working with one or more consultees to address concerns regarding the client) rather than on intervention teams, consideration of this research sheds light on school-based intervention teams because a similar indirect relationship is involved through the use of a general education intervention team between the consultant (the General Education Intervention team), the consultee (the teacher), and the client (the child). Furthermore, according to Upah and Tilly (2002), many intervention teams address the four stages of behavioral consultation based on the work of Bergan and Kratochwill (1990), which could be likened to the indirect relationships of the general education intervention team.

According to Sheridan et al. (1996), research prior to 1985 supported using the consultation method. For example, Sheridan et al. found that research since 1985 has utilized improved methodological rigor as compared to the past studies. In addition, it was concluded that studies with a well-articulated model or conceptual framework (e.g., behavioral consultation, mental health, organizational, etc.) yielded favorable results with behavioral consultation yielding the highest percentage of constructive change for the client. In order to come to these results, 46 articles were coded based on several variables through outcome measures including ratings, testing, observation, and referrals. Positive

results indicated that constructive changes in the client were related to the consultation services. Neutral results indicated that either no change or inconsistent changes (both positive and negative) in the client occurred. Finally, negative results indicated unwanted changes in the client's behavior. In general, it was found that meaningful changes took place in the client. Of the articles reviewed, 76% yielded some positive results indicating that constructive change took place in the client, 33% reported inconsistent or no change in the client, and 4% reported unwanted change for the client. Furthermore, 46% of the articles were behavioral, with 11% mental health, and 4% organizational in terms of their approach to consultation. Twenty-eight percent employed other consultation models, and 11% did not specify. Of the behavioral consultation models, 89% of the models yielded wanted change for the client as a result of the consultation, and no unwanted results for the client were found. Fifty-seven percent of mental health consultation yielded constructive change for the client based on the model, with another 43% having inconsistent or no change in the client.

Sheridan et al. (1996) concluded that although the majority of studies employed a type of theoretical approach, many yielded inconsistent or no change for the client. Furthermore, the authors stated that it was still too early to report on the effectiveness of school consultation services since there is a limited amount of research in this area. Sheridan et al. reported that most of the research examined utilized indirect measures, such as ratings, rather than student outcomes data.

Likewise, Welch, Brownell, and Sheridan (1999) conducted a literature review on school-based problem-solving teams (SBPSTs) and team teaching published from 1980

to 1997 in order to review and identify the types of articles on team-teaching and School-Based Problem-Solving Teams, summarize the conclusions of published articles, draw conclusions regarding current research trends, and present suggestions for future research. The articles reviewed were analyzed according to (a) type of article, (b) schoolbased teaming model used, (c) presence of objective dependent measures to assess outcomes, (d) direction of results, (e) type of experimental design used, (f) assessment of satisfaction, (g) the way in which integrity was maintained, and (h) the way in which follow-up was conducted. Results suggested most articles were anecdotal reports or technical guides for implementing a model. Fifty-seven percent of the articles were anecdotal or technical guides. Only 2.5% of the articles employed an experimental design with most of these (20%) employing a quasi-experimental design. Among the research articles, the most common type of measures were interviews (20%), surveys (12.5%), teacher satisfaction (12.5%) and direct observation (7.5%). It was also found that only 6% of the articles reported social validity, and 55% did not report any follow-up procedures. Many of the articles reviewed reported favorable attitudes of teachers towards SBPSTs and consumer (teacher) satisfaction, which supports SBPSTs and team teaching. However, these articles utilized self-report surveys and interviews regarding satisfaction rather than intervention outcomes. Thus, little is known about student outcomes for these approaches. Welch et al. recommended that future research examine the effectiveness of SBPSTs and meaningful change in student behavior and performance. Clearly, more research in the area of student outcomes is needed.

Although much of the research in the literature relating to school-based intervention teams has focused on issues related to the function, process, or approach; research relating to student outcomes is still lacking. According to Levinsohn (2000), student outcomes include measurement of student reading achievement and special education placement rates. Although other studies have considered student academic achievement and behavioral outcomes (e.g., Fuchs, Fuchs, & Bahr, 1990), the current study considered student outcomes in relation to the student's target goal by comparison of baseline to follow-up data.

Regardless of what the school-based intervention teams are named, or in what ways the teams function, the bottom line for most teams is to increase student performance. By examining the research on interventions teams and how the teams relate to Telzrow et al.'s (2000) problem-solving components and Upah and Tilly's (2002) best practice indicators, one can compare the studies in relation to problem-solving components and best practice indicators. In order to examine empirical evidence of intervention teams as it relates to student outcomes using Telzrow et al. work as a frame of reference, the following categories were used to define the parameters of the review: Mainstream Assistance Teams (MAT), School-Based Intervention Teams (SBIT), Prereferral Intervention Teams (PIT), Instructional Consultation Teams (ICT), Intervention Assistance (IA), Intervention-Based Assessment (IBA), Multifactored Evaluation, Collaborative Educational Teams (CET), and CPS for GEI teams. These subcategories were chosen based on the overall construct of school-based intervention teams in order to help identify articles that were related to such, regardless of the specific

10

name of the team or process, even with some articles naming the teams "School-Based Intervention Teams." In addition, Upah and Tilly's identified best practice indicators through a 12-component standard for designing, implementing, and evaluating quality interventions. These include behavioral definition of the problem, collecting baseline data, problem validation, problem analysis steps, goal setting, action plan development, measurement strategy, decision-making plans, progress monitoring, formative evaluation, treatment integrity, and summative evaluation. To be more specific, a behavioral definition of the problem refers to a behavior that is defined in specific, observable, and measurable terms. Problem validation refers to the presence of a discrepancy between the student's performance and the standard that is large enough to warrant an intervention. Problem analysis steps include the way in which data are collected to generate a hypothesis as to why the problem exists so that the intervention design can be linked to the reason. Goal setting is defined as the direction or extent to which behavior is to be changed. Action plan development includes who will do what intervention and how it will take place. A measurement strategy includes where, by whom, and when data will be collected. Decision-making plans indicate the frequency of data collection, how to summarize the data, and guidelines to make a decision. Progress monitoring refers to continuous evaluation to modify interventions as needed. Formative evaluation occurs when the team determines if the plan is working throughout intervention. Treatment integrity indicates that interventions were implemented as planned. Finally, summative evaluation conveys if the plan worked at end of intervention.

For ease of comparison, each type of team in the literature was examined in relationship to Telzrow et al.'s (2000) and Upah and Tilly's (2002) best practice indicators (see Appendix A). Specifically, Fuchs, Fuchs, Bahr, et al. (1990) reflected goal setting and summative evaluation in their research on Mainstream Assistance Teams (MAT). For School-Based Intervention Teams (SBIT), McDougal, Moody-Clonan, and Martens (2000) presented goal setting, hypothesized reason for the problem, and building an action plan. Regarding Prereferral Intervention Teams (PIT), Truscott, Cosgrove, Meyers, and Eidle-Barkman (2000) examined three studies of acceptability of the process and the teams appeared to be functioning at least adequately in the action plan development phase as evidenced by the teams' student referrals for counselors or special education and by the fact that PIT rarely undertook consultation services. The Instructional Consultation Teams (ICT) type was studied by Levinsohn (2000), who looked at treatment integrity, definition of the problem, baseline data, and action plan development. Rock and Zigmond (2001) examined Intervention Assistance Teams (IA) and tracked summative evaluation data. McNamara and Hollinger's (2003) research on Intervention-Based Assessment (IBA) dealt with the summative evaluation phase and also touched on progress monitoring and formative evaluation. In addition, definition of the problem and problem analysis or hypothesized reason for the problem were also examined. Formative evaluation and baseline data were reported by Hunt, Soto, Maier, and Doering (2003) for Collaborative Educational Teams (CET). Finally, the CPS for GEI teams process itself requires participants to examine behavioral definition of the problem, review baseline data, action plan development, goal setting, building

interventions built on the student's strengths, formative evaluation, and summative evaluation (Bahr et al., 2006).

Mainstream Assistance Teams

Fuchs, Fuchs, Bahr, et al. (1990) examined the Mainstream Assistance Team (MAT) process, which is based on behavioral consultation. MATs used written scripts to guide the process and scripted self-monitoring protocols, which were designed to channel the consultants' verbal behavior so that he or she could create a rationale for the meeting, establish a quick-paced flow of the meeting, and obtain information about the classroom environment. This approach was successful in decreasing the number of referrals to special education. With regard to goal setting, the students referred to the MATs met 75% to 85% of the goals that were identified for them. Since IDEA mandates that students be educated in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE), which, for many students, could mean staying in their general education classroom with some supports offered through an intervention team, the process used in this study lends itself to potentially helping schools meet criteria for federal mandates through LRE.

School-Based Intervention Teams

McDougal et al. (2000) stated that prereferral intervention teams embody a consultation-based approach for providing academic or behavioral interventions to a student prior to recommending an evaluation for special education services. This is deemed important because consultation has become a means to service students in the school setting, and consultation is thought to reduce the burden placed on services available at the school, including special education. McDougal et al. used a prereferral

intervention program called the School-Based Intervention Team (SBIT), which was based on behavioral consultation (Kratochwill & Bergan, 1990), and was guided by a three-stage model for organizational change (Fairweather, Sanders, & Tornatzky, 1974). This process includes consultation between a teacher and a team of consultants all working toward the common goals of defining and analyzing the problem, as well as developing an action plan, which includes designing, implementing, and evaluating one or more treatments (Fuchs & Fuchs, 1989; Graden et al., 1985). The purpose of McDougal et al.'s study was to (a) describe the organizational change procedures that were used to promote acceptability of a prereferral intervention program being implemented in a district, and (b) to document the program's acceptability to team members and teachers participating in the process where the change was piloted. The second purpose of the study was important because the district in the study was in the fourth year of piloting a model for delivery of prereferral services. During the four years of the project, the piloting project had grown from four schools to nine. Therefore, discussing the acceptability of those involved in the project was important to continue the initiative in the district.

McDougal et al. (2000) examined four elementary level schools that were located in an urban district in New York. The SBITs at each school were composed of six to ten professionals. Forty-seven students who displayed academic and/or behavior problems were taken through the SBIT process. Teachers generally rated SBIT services favorably. Initial referral rates to special education in the first year dropped by 22% compared to two years prior to the SBIT project, and dropped by an additional 14% in the second year. The SBIT program showed a mean drop of 36% in referral rates to special education, although the district as a whole had a 4% increase in referrals to special education. McDougal et al. note that the decrease in referral rates could have been accounted for by teachers' motivation to accommodate children's needs in a general education classroom, the school's readiness to adopt a change model, or increased prereferral activities, which limited the number of students referred. It is also possible that although McDougal et al. did not specifically investigate student outcomes, the teachers in the study decreased the number of referrals to special education, and the referral rate to special education was considered a student outcome by Levinsohn (2000). Therefore, it is plausible that the interventions generated through the SBIT program may have successfully impacted student outcomes, because if students did not improve performance, teachers would have been likely to pursue a special education referral. However, because the data on the student's achievement and behavior were not obtained, this remains speculative.

Prereferral Intervention Teams

Truscott et al. (2000) examined three studies on the acceptability of a school district's Prereferral Intervention Teams (PIT). The PIT process was implemented in one school district in an 18-month time period. The first study examined the overall acceptability of the PIT process. Results indicated organizational consultation methods and processes used in the PIT project were acceptable to PIT members.

The second study examined the association between PIT changes adopted by the schools in their processes and the acceptability of the consultation method. Qualitative analysis showed the teams did not view their roles as preventative. At the end of the first

year of the project, team members agreed to accept prevention as a goal of the PIT. The consultants noted that the teachers did not feel that they were a part of the team, which was evidenced by interviews, observations, a faculty survey, and inconsistent attendance of the referring teacher at the PIT meetings. However, when the project was completed, the teams had appointed members and referring teachers were encouraged to attend the meetings. Finally, throughout the study, team members reviewed records and gathered observational data as a form of problem-solving strategy. This study points toward stressing a preventive focus, including teachers as team members, and using systematic problem-solving for referrals. However, the authors noted that PITs seldom analyzed the outcomes of their efforts when interventions were planned.

In the third study, long-term acceptability of changes adopted by the PITs were examined. In the subsequent year after training, systematic problem-solving was acceptable to the teams, because it was incorporated into the teams' mission statement and implemented in their PITs. Although these three studies conducted by Truscott et al. (2000) showed changes in team behaviors, beliefs, and attitudes, they lacked empirical evidence of student outcomes related to specific academic or behavioral outcomes. The absence of assessment of student outcomes points out the great need for further research on the PIT training.

Truscott, Cohen, Sams, Sandborn, and Frank (2005) examined PIT regulations, prevalence, membership, goals, and intervention information from two national telephone surveys. Survey 1 examined regulations and recommendations from 51 state education departments (including Washington D.C.). It was found that 69% of the states mandate

16

prereferral intervention and 41% mandate prereferral intervention teams, but states provide little direction about how to implement such services, with only 14% having specified or recommended team composition. Survey 2 obtained information about elementary school PIT prevalence, membership, goals, and common intervention recommendations from 200 different elementary schools. It was found that 85% of the schools used multidisciplinary team members. In addition, there was not a clear schoolbased consensus on PIT goals and most PITs recommended additional services, testing, or easy classroom interventions and seldom recommended instructional modifications of substance. Based on the findings, it was suggested that research efforts need to concentrate on finding critical elements of effective PITs and evidenced-based interventions (EBI) increasing intervention repertoire. The noted need for research surrounding EBI suggests that student outcomes need to be measured since EBI involves progress monitoring and response to interventions.

Instructional Consultation Teams

Instructional Consultation Teams (ICT; Rosenfield & Gravois, 1996, 1999) focus on instruction and learning. Rosenfield and Gravois (1996) stated that ICTs are based on four assumptions: (a) all children are learners; (b) the focus needs to be on the match between the student's skills and his or her environment; (c) a collaborative problemsolving learning community needs to be fostered in a school; and (d) change is a process, not an event. Levinsohn (2000) compared an ICT process to a Student Support Team (SST) in which the children who went through the ICT process were instructionally matched using curriculum-based measurement (CBM). ICT team members in the study

17

were trained in a 20-hour session over the summer. Participants included several school professionals from different disciplines, such as school psychologists, school counselors, school nurses, and general education teachers. A teacher could begin the ICT process by making a referral to the ICT team. In this model, most of the interactions occurred between the referring teacher and a consultant, although the Instructional Consultation Team was available to help with the most difficult referrals. For clarification, Student Support Teams (SST) focused more on interventions and did not employ a specific strategy for problem-solving.

Levinsohn's (2000) study looked specifically at treatment integrity and used curriculum-based measures (CBM) to define the reading concern in such a way that it was observable and measurable. The results of Levinsohn's study indicated that although the students in the ICT group scored lower in reading than the SST students at the outset of the study, students in the SST condition were placed in special education at a rate seven times higher than ICT children by the end of the study. According to Telzrow et al.'s (2000) conceptual work, this study clearly used the baseline data and action plan development, and Levinsohn argues that these contribute to more appropriate referrals to special education. This is important to note because referral rates can be considered a type of student outcome, according to Levinsohn's definition. In addition, reading achievement was reported based on scores of children treated in the SST group and children who went through the ICT group, and neither group passed the district criterion for fluency levels at the end of the study. Levinsohn's study is unique in that no other

research has compared student outcomes (referral rates) based on two problem-solving models. This not withstanding, specific, idiographic data are still needed.

Intervention Assistance Teams

Rock and Zigmond (2001) examined 140 students across nine schools in grades K-5 who were referred for Intervention Assistance Teams. The authors tracked data including the percentages of students: retained who were referred for intervention assistance; promoted who participated in the intervention assistance; referred for special education who participated in the intervention assistance; participated in intervention assistance one year who were referred for intervention assistance the subsequent year; and experienced a delay in being referred to special education.

The number of students referred for intervention assistance ranged from 6 to 24 depending on the school. The study yielded varying results for retention by school as well. For instance, in one school, retention rates of students referred for intervention assistance was 80%, although another school retained only 8.3% of students referred for intervention assistance. The percentage of students across all schools who were referred for special education was 25.7%. Furthermore, by the end of the year, 74.3% of students referred to intervention assistance for academic and behavior challenges appeared to have had their concerns resolved without a referral to special education (Rock & Zigmond, 2001). Twenty-seven cases came through the intervention assistance process in the subsequent year and 23 of the 27 cases were available to use through the duration of the study, with 7 having been promoted, 5 retained, and 11 placed in special education. Because 11 students were placed in special education, Rock and Zigmond raised a

concern that a delay in the process of identifying children for special education services may violate the child's right to a Free and Appropriate Education. Furthermore, students who were African-American were referred and deemed eligible for special education more often than European-American children. Although this study examined placement rates, student outcomes related to specific academic and behavioral outcomes were not reported.

Intervention-Based Assessment

McNamara and Hollinger (2003) examined two types of multidisciplinary problem-solving team methods used to address the needs of children with learning and behavior problems. Specifically, the Intervention-Based Assessment (IBA) model was compared to the Intervention Assistance Teams (IAT) model in a sample of 80 Ohio schools involved in the IBA waiver program that were also involved in the pilot study during the baseline year immediately preceding the implementation of IBA. The study was conducted in order to document the implementation of an eligibility-linked problemsolving project with respect to several special education reform goals. The IAT and IBA methods differed from each other in several ways. IBAs are school-based multidisciplinary teams that serve as the primary resource for addressing the needs of children with academic or behavior challenges. The IBAs, described in this study, examined referrals to special education by considering the intensity of the interventions and matching characteristics of the child with the federal definition of a disability. The IBAs were required to document eligibility in a written report that included baseline behaviors and any progressing monitoring data describing the behavior of concern. The primary emphasis of the IBAs were on the quality of interventions shown to address the area of concern and problem-solving continued until an effective intervention was found to adequately address the student's problem in school. The Multifactored Evaluation approach (MFE) was employed by school personnel when there was suspicion of a disability and the school was required by the state to make decisions for special education eligibility, which for the IBA method consisted of observing the student, assessing the environment, conducting interviews, monitoring planned interventions, and identifying those interventions found to be effective. MFE under the IBA method required direct measurement and documentation of baseline and progress-monitoring of interventions.

The IAT model, like the IBA model, also required delivery of interventions prior to making a decision of special education eligibility but it did not require the teams to identify effective interventions and required only a written summary of interventions attempted. That is to say, there were not provisions for collecting data and reporting progress. Moreover, the MFE, which was also required by the state to make decisions for special education eligibility, differed from the IBA method in that under the IAT method the MFE consisted of instruments that were administered by trained professionals with emphasis on the results of standardized, norm-referenced tests to help make determinations for special education eligibility.

When comparing students who went through the IBA approach versus the IAT approach, 53% of cases underwent MFE using the IAT approach, while 26% of cases underwent MFE when the IBA method was used (McNamara & Hollinger, 2003). Sixty-three percent of the children were found eligible for special education using the IAT

21

approach, and 77% were found eligible when the IBA eligibility determination procedure was used (McNamara & Hollinger). Thirty-six cases were found ineligible for special education services using the IAT method, in comparison to 17% who were found ineligible by teams employing the IBA procedure. Rather than only considering overall rates regarding special education, this study contributes to the literature concerning student outcomes of intervention teams because it examines the reductions in inappropriate MFE rates, which are rates that result in finding no special education eligibility. This study also contributes to the literature because it compared two intervention models used in one state rather than comparing an intervention model to a condition in which problem-solving was not employed. Specifically, outcomes under the pilot model of IBA were compared with the outcomes using an earlier intervention model (IAT; McNamara & Hollinger). This highlights the importance of interventions playing a crucial role in the eligibility determination process. This study also supports the notion that team-based problem-solving methods differ in many respects, including the quality of data collection and the degree of perseverance in devising and documenting effective interventions.

Collaborative Educational Teams

Hunt et al. (2003) examined the effectiveness of a general education/special education collaborative teaming process, known as Collaborative Educational Teams (CET), concerning academic and social behaviors of six students in a general education classroom at two different elementary schools. Three of the six students were identified with severe disabilities, such as cerebral palsy, autism, and muscular dystrophy. All of

22

the children had Unified Plans of Support (UPS; see Hunt, Soto, Maier, Miller, & Goetz, 2002) related to academic underachievement or the child's disability. UPS is a process involving regular team meetings to develop supports for students that includes a built-in accountability system and the flexibility to make changes as needed. A major focus of UPS is collaborating in order to create and implement individual instruction and supports to help increase academic and social success for students in the general education setting. The teams met once a month for about 1 hour and 30 minutes to initially develop and then to continue to refine support plans. The UPS meetings were designed to be collaborative in that each member of the team could share his or her knowledge, skills, and experience while building on the ideas of others. This collaborative problem-solving approach included four key elements: (a) identifying the academic and social profile for each child, (b) developing supports to increase academic success or engagement in classroom activities (e.g., increase the students' attempts to initiate communicative interactions by asking questions, making comments or answering questions), (c) implementation of the plans, and (d) a built-in accountability system. Each UPS was individualized with curricular or social supports. Student outcomes were measured using team interviews and systematic observation by use of The Interaction and Engagement Scale to determine non-engagement levels, that is, lack of participation in class activities by way of not asking questions, not making comments or not answering questions.

After implementing academic and social supports, non-engagement levels decreased with average scores ranging from 40% to 23% during baseline to .2% to 5% after treatment. In addition, students were more often initiating interactions with their
peers from an average range of .7% to 14% to an average range of 18% to 29% after treatment. Open-ended interviews were conducted with team members to gain their perceptions of changes in classroom behavior and academic progress for the students produced themes of increased assertiveness, demonstration of pride, increased positive interactions, increased levels of requesting help, and enjoyment in helping classmates. These findings suggest student outcome measures that are consistently implemented through the UPS developed through a collaborative teaming processes increased student engagement and student initiated interactions (Hunt et al., 2003).

Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams

The Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams (CPS for GEI) teams process is an approach for school-based intervention teams that is based on the framework of Creative Problem Solving (CPS). CPS is a problem-solving process that is based on the 1960's work of Alex Osborn and Sidney Parnes (as cited in Isaksen, Dorval, & Treffinger, 2000). CPS is based on five principles: (a) everyone has the potential to be creative; (b) everyone can express his or her creativity; (c) each person's creativity is related to his or her interests, preferences and/or styles; (d) people can be both productive and creative; and (e) creativity levels can be enhanced.

CPS offers a four-stage framework for change: (a) Planning your Approach, (b) Understanding the Challenge, (c) Generating Ideas, and (d) Preparing for Action (Isaksen et al., 2000). This four-stage framework is used during the problem-solving process. After a university based center observed inefficient team processes, the CPS process was adapted to General Education Intervention (GEI) teams, thereby named the CPS for GEI

teams process. CPS for GEI offers a specific process to make efficient use of group members' time. CPS for GEI teams go through the four stages in a prescribed manner in order to help the referring teacher and student with academic and/or behavior issues.

It should be noted that CPS for GEI teams is a very specific process and requires training. Teams that use the CPS for GEI teams process are trained during an all-day seminar. The teams receive support visits from their "coach" throughout the school year and a refresher day of training is offered later in the same school year.

According to Buddle et al. (2005), it is important to understand that there are three distinct team roles. The first role is that of the referring individual. This person, usually the student's teacher, has already attempted several interventions to address a student's challenge, but is in need of more intervention ideas. The second role is the resource group, and usually includes 4 to 10 educators or specialists, including school psychologists, social workers, and/or nurses, who possess expertise and experience. The resource group helps generate ideas and provide support for the teacher to implement interventions. The final role is the facilitator, who can be any team member, and conducts the meetings and monitors the process of the meeting.

The CPS for GEI teams process involves an initial meeting and at least one follow-up meeting. The initial team meeting consists of three parts: Understanding the Challenge, Generating and Selecting Interventions, and Action Planning. Each component takes approximately 15 minutes, with a total meeting time of 45 minutes for the meeting (Bahr et al., 2006; Buddle & Freeman, 2002). During each part of the process, the team goes through a generating and focusing cycle. During the generating

portions of the meeting, team members generate novel ideas by calling out ideas and writing these on Post-ItsTM notes or half-sheets of paper, which are displayed for all to read. Focusing comes next and relies on the referring teacher to narrow the options by analyzing what has been generated and choosing ideas or interventions (Bahr et al.; Buddle & Freeman).

During the first 15 minutes of the initial meeting, which is called Understanding the Challenge, the team examines the behavioral definition of the problem and reviews baseline data. With this in mind, the team reviews a background information form which was completed by the referring teacher prior to the meeting and is distributed to team members ahead of the meeting. The background information form consists of relevant information including demographic information, personal information, strengths, a description of the problem, and previous interventions attempted. Once the background information form is reviewed, the team lists the student's individual strengths. Second, the team lists the challenges for the student. Next, the referring teacher is asked to confirm a desired outcome, or where he or she would like to see the child perform. The desired outcome is stated in a brief and broad manner (e.g., "We want to improve this student's math skills.").

Next, the team generates critical questions through a tool called Brainstorming with Post-ItsTM. This is done by writing a critical question on a Post-ItTM note and then saying it aloud for all team members to hear. This is then posted for all to see as well. Critical questions have stems, such as "how to" and "in what ways might we," that, if answered, will help the student achieve the desired outcome. Then the referring teacher

focuses, which involves choosing 5 to 7 critical questions that are the most important in meeting the needs of the student. The Post-ItsTM with the critical questions chosen by the referring teacher are then numbered and displayed for the team.

In the next phase of the meeting, Generating and Selecting Interventions, the team generates interventions based on the student's strengths that were specified earlier in the meeting. These interventions are intended to be directed by principles of empiricallybased interventions. As previously mentioned, "Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths" is proposed in the current study as a problem-solving component. Each team member writes a list of interventions that address the critical questions selected by the referring teacher. Then team members are paired and asked to review their intervention lists in order to develop and continue generating interventions. These interventions are then written individually on a half-sheet of paper, called out for all to hear, and posted under the corresponding critical question. Once the teacher and the facilitator feel as though enough interventions are generated for each critical question, the referring teacher selects approximately 3-5 interventions that are manageable, utilize the strengths of the student, are based on best practices, and address the critical question.

Finally, during the Action Planning stage of the meeting, the team writes a measurable goal in order to evaluate the success of each intervention. The measurable goal is written on a wall chart, and the interventions chosen are posted beneath it. Beside each intervention are two columns: "Who or What Can Help?" and "Date to Begin." Together, the team then generates possible resources, including school personnel and materials, to help implement the intervention and support the referring teacher. Team

members who have experience or expertise in the area of concern also participate as resources. The date of implementation is set for each selected intervention. The Action Plan is then copied to a form with two additional columns that are completed at the follow-up meeting: "Degree of Success" and "What Did You Learn About the Student?" At the end of the meeting, the team sets a date for a follow-up meeting (usually 4 to 6 weeks later) that allows for an adequate period of time for interventions to be implemented as designed. The referring teacher and all involved in the interventions leave the initial meeting with a copy of the Action Plan and a date for the follow-up meeting.

Grimes (2001) and McKinney (2001) both examined Creative Problem Solving and its use with GEI teams. Grimes studied treatment acceptability using 117 General Education Intervention teams from 24 elementary schools in a single state. She used a survey to assess CPS for GEI team members' familiarity with, judgments of acceptability of, and perceived effectiveness of the interventions developed through the process. Grimes' study indicated that teams trained in the CPS for GEI teams process raised familiarity ratings of interventions and, for some, acceptability and perceived effectiveness ratings. Furthermore, teams trained in the school-based, problem-solving method increased the team's familiarity with interventions.

McKinney (2001) compared CPS for GEI teams trained schools to untrained schools' in terms of their referral rates to special education and their team effectiveness. McKinney found no significant differences when comparing 12 schools trained in CPS for GEI teams and 12 schools not trained in the process with respect to the number of referrals to the general education intervention team. However, the number of nonverifiable referrals to special education--that is, referrals of students who did not qualify for special education--for teams trained in CPS for GEI teams process decreased from 35% one school year to 14% the following school year. Although many of these results were promising, and the drop in referral rates may be included in Levinsohn's (2000) definition of student outcomes, there is no research using the CPS for GEI teams process examining specific student outcomes.

In a separate study, Bahr et al. (2006) investigated two research questions related to CPS for GEI over a two-year period. One research question asked, "Is the CPS for GEI process effective relative to a non-CPS team process?" The second research question asked, "Is there a difference between direct training by project staff and a train-thetrainers approach?" First, 24 school teams were equally divided and randomly assigned to either a control group or an experimental group in which the teams were trained via the CPS for GEI process. The teams were then compared along several outcomes measures, such as type of team, length of initial team meeting, ratings of perceived effectiveness, follow-up, and quality indices. Results for research question one indicated that after the intervention a majority of experimental teams reported completing their meetings within the expected time frame (40 to 50 minutes). Second, team effectiveness, as determined by the total scores on the *Team Effectiveness Scale*, was higher at postintervention than at preintervention for the group trained in the CPS for GEI process. Furthermore, the teams trained in the CPS for GEI process had higher scores than the control group at postintervention. With regard to the overall adequacy of follow-up, both the experimental

and control groups reported similar frequencies on some follow-up practices, such as use of written or verbal follow-up procedures, and no statistical differences were found. However, at postintervention the teams trained in the CPS for GEI process reported higher levels of overall adequacy of follow-up and time devoted to follow-up. Finally, the teams trained in the CPS for GEI process increased their familiarity with and use of quality indices, or indicators that have been found to correlate positively with desirable treatment outcomes, from pre- to postintervention, while the control group decreased their familiarity ratings.

For the same study, research question two was answered by examining teams that received the CPS for GEI training directly from project staff and a group of teams that received CPS for GEI training from school district employees who were trained by the project staff (Bahr et al., 2006). Participants included twelve teams that were CPS for GEI trained by the project staff and 10 teams received their CPS for GEI training from school district employees. There were no statistical differences in team composition, referrals for academic problems, and desired outcomes. Overall, outcomes were comparable across types of training with the exception that the district trained teams conducted follow-up meetings in a shorter amount of time as compared to the project staff trained teams. The findings support district level training, therefore, allowing more teams to be trained in CPS for GEI method.

Summary and Critique

Based on this review, many of these studies included at least one best practice indicator based upon the work of Telzrow et al. (2000) and Upah and Tilly (2002). Some

studies (e.g., McKinney 2001) suggest that school-based intervention teams make more appropriate referrals for special education testing (i.e., referrals for testing of students who qualify for special education as opposed to those who do not), while other studies demonstrate an increase in teacher's acceptability ratings of the interventions developed through the problem-solving process (e.g., Grimes, 2001). However, only ICT, IBA, CET, and CPS for GEI processes considered student outcomes as related to specific academic and behavioral concerns, but the student outcomes examined usually referred to referral rates to special education rather than examining actual student progress. Research considering specific student outcomes is scant as related to teams and specific student outcomes.

An important finding across many studies is that positive outcomes for teams, and in some cases positive outcomes for students, occur through the use of team problemsolving approaches. Levinsohn's (2000) study, in particular, attributed the positive results to the collaborative, problem-solving process. However, training in these processes is not only expensive, but also time consuming. Therefore, convincing participants of the utility of being trained and using a problem-solving process is crucial to enhance team performance, which affects student outcomes. This further supports the need for more research based on specific academic or behavioral outcomes for students.

According to Iwata (1991), the applied research literature as a whole needs evidence for methods that increase effectiveness and efficiency. Therefore, research is needed not only on student outcomes, but also on outcomes related to a GEI process and/or team approach. Rosenfield and Gravois (1999) note that not all schools use a team

approach because its effectiveness is often in question. This may be one reason why data on school-based intervention teams and student outcomes are so scarce. However, Rosenfield and Gravois argue that a team may be more effective than one person's efforts. This is because the professional world continues to create and develop people who are skilled in one particular area, and a multidisciplinary team in a school, much like a General Education Intervention team, brings professionals together from different disciplines to better serve a particular child. Developing a school team may provide better ways to serve children because it allows strengths from team members to be used in ways that benefit students. Therefore, not only are more data needed on student outcomes, more data are also needed on teams.

The Current Study

The present investigation examined student outcomes using the CPS for GEI teams process. The current study is based on both some of Upah and Tilly's (2002) and some of Telzrow et al.'s (2000) components. The components used in the study were chosen based on information that was available to the examiner because the data used in the study was collected by a university-based center. This study differs from previous research in several important ways. First, this study looks specifically at the CPS for GEI teams process with regard to student outcomes data. Although Grimes (2001), McKinney (2001), and Bahr et al. (2006) examined the CPS for GEI teams process, specific student outcomes were not examined. Second, this study examined a specific type of prereferral team (CPS for GEI teams) using best practice variables to determine which had the greatest impact on student outcomes. The reauthorization of IDEA emphasizes that

educators will need to examine student's responses to interventions. Therefore, knowing the variables that better predict student outcomes will provide more insight into where more data are needed when a student is going through the CPS for GEI teams process. It will also be helpful to have an understanding of the relationship between the area of concern (specific academic subject or behavioral difficulty) and student outcome data. Finally, independent outcomes were derived from analysis of progress-monitoring data, rather than self-report or survey, which Flugum and Reschly (1994) judge to be superior to self-ratings.

Four important questions were investigated using the CPS for GEI teams process: Research Question 1

How did students referred to the CPS for GEI teams progress based on student outcomes relative to the area of concern (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, or Math)? It is important to track the area of concern given that research demonstrates that many referral problems are related to reading difficulties (see Bahr et al., 2006); therefore, research is lacking in other areas as related to school-based teams. It was expected that when Language Arts is the area of concern student outcomes will be higher as compared to student outcomes when Behavior, Language Arts and Math, or Math are the concerns.

Research Question 2

Do schools trained in the CPS for GEI teams process differ in the overall quality of the action plans? It is important to determine whether differences exist between schools trained at the same time in the same process in order to point to or disregard differences in student outcomes based on intra-school characteristics. Although each school received the same training, school cultures differ as do levels of expertise of team members across schools. Therefore, it was expected that the overall quality of the action plans would differ across schools.

Research Question 3

Is there a difference in student outcomes across schools? This is important to note based on information gained from Research Question 2. In other words, if the schools do differ in overall plan quality, it is important to compare those results with possible differences in student outcomes across schools. It was expected that there would be differences in student outcomes across schools.

Research Question 4

What impact did the CPS for GEI teams process have on student outcomes in terms of problem-solving components, including definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on student strengths? Problem-solving components were derived from two sources: a replication of several problem-solving components in the Telzrow et al. (2000) study and the unique intervention process used for CPS for GEI teams process. These indicators include (a) definition of the problem, (b) baseline data, (c) goal setting, (d) action plan development, which is referred to as action plan in this study, (e) interventions built on the student's strengths, and (f) student outcomes. It was expected that definition of the problem, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths would be correlated to student outcomes. In addition, was also anticipated that definition of the problem, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths were all hypothesized to predict student outcomes.

CHAPTER 2

METHODS

Participants

Six CPS for GEI teams that were trained in a Midwestern state participated in the study. The teams were part of six different elementary schools across one state. The teams had varying numbers of students referred to the team ranging from 4 to 26 with a total of 76 individual cases reviewed but only 32 cases included student outcomes data. Of the 32 cases with student outcomes data, 18 (56%) were males, and 14 (44%) were females. In addition, the majority of students were Caucasian (n = 24, 75%), while seven were African American (22%) and one was multi-racial (3%). Grade levels varied from Kindergarten to sixth grade with five cases in Kindergarten, seven cases in first grade, 10 cases in second grade, three cases in third grade, four cases in fourth grade, two cases in fifth grade, and one case in sixth grade. The teams were recruited by an endowed, university-based center, rather than the researcher. The teams were part of a larger study conducted by the university-based center. The data used for the current study belonged to the university-based center, but permission was granted for the researcher to examine the data for purposes of this study.

The university-based center developed the CPS for GEI process and project staff trained school teams across the state in the process for several years. The project staff trained each team in the CPS for GEI process in one session in the fall. In the spring of the same school year, each team received a refresher course as well. In addition, each team was assigned a coach from the project staff's training team who would provide follow-up visits to the school to ensure the team was implementing the process correctly, which was done through evaluation and feedback procedures developed by the project staff to help ensure the teams were implementing the process with integrity. After the teams received the training, the coaches may have also assisted in training the entire school in the process.

The teams in the study had become aware of the CPS for GEI team process through information sent to the special education administrator or via information from other schools or other state agencies. Once the principal of a school became interested, a CPS for GEI project staff member interviewed the principal, who had to commit to providing time and resources for the team to participate in the CPS for GEI team process. This included allowing team members to attend trainings in both the fall and spring. For the training sessions, all of the schools being trained traveled to one location to be trained in the specific process by the project staff for a day long training session in the fall and one day in the spring for what was considered a refresher course. Each principal also (a) ensured time and pay for substitutes that permitted team members to attend the trainings; (b) allowed the team to spend 45 minutes on each case; (c) agreed to collect research data for the project; and (d) made other commitments to make certain the process was carried out effectively. It should be noted that the school could withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. GEI teams in the study did not receive any monetary compensation for their participation; however, training and materials were provided to all participating teams through a grant.

Each GEI team consisted of approximately five or six members. Members of each team varied and were frequently voluntary. Many teams included an administrator, a school psychologist, a counselor, one or two general education teachers, and a special education teacher, although teams could include other professionals who served children in the educational setting, such as social workers. The teams consisted of the same core members throughout the year. The teams addressed approximately 10 referrals per school over the course of one academic year for students who were brought to the GEI team by the student's teacher. The students either had academic or behavioral difficulties. Each team was trained in the process during the fall of 2005 by CPS for GEI project staff. The CPS for GEI project staff included full-time employees of, or consultants with, a university-based program and were highly trained in the CPS for GEI method.

Instruments

Team Accomplishment Sheet (TAS)

The TAS (See Appendix B) is an instrument designed by CPS for GEI project staff to help the university-based center evaluate the process. The TAS is used to track information throughout the CPS for GEI process and is used to collect general data for the CPS for GEI project staff regarding the process. This includes the outcome of cases, specifically, whether a child is referred for special education. To date, there have not been any validity or reliability analyses conducted on the TAS. The data on the TAS are recorded by the schools. For the purposes of this study, several variables on the TAS were used. These included the following: primary area of concern (Language Arts vs. Math vs. Language Arts/Math vs. Behavior), baseline assessment data, and updated assessment data. A GEI team member at each school completed the TAS.

Action Plan

The Action Plan (See Appendix C) is an instrument developed by CPS for GEI project staff that lists the interventions chosen for the student, a goal for the student, baseline data, and follow-up data (completed at the follow-up meeting). The Action Plan was completed by a CPS for GEI team member during the first meeting, and at subsequent meetings if changes to the form were made. The researcher used specific information from the Action Plan, including the interventions generated by the team and chosen by the referring teacher, who or what could help implement the interventions, the degree of success for each intervention, the student's strengths assessed and generated by the team, the date of the follow-up meeting, and the critical questions generated and chosen by the team, which helps to define the problem. A GEI team member at each school completed the Action Plan during the meeting as part of the process. *Rubric*

The rubric used in this study is essentially a coding device replicated from Telzrow et al. (2000; See Appendix D). The rubric was used to evaluate problem-solving components documented in the TAS and the Action Plan. The rubric consists of several 5-point Likert scales with higher scores reflecting higher quality indicators. Telzrow et al. used the rubric in a similar study and found it to be reliable (.87 to .97 inter-rater agreement). Five of the eight components on the scale as discussed by Telzrow et al. were used in the current study, with an additional one, interventions built on the student's strengths.

The six problem-solving components were operationally defined. The first problem-solving component is a definition of the problem, which includes a clear definition or description of the problem behavior. This is a statement that outlines the area of concern in a specific, observable, and measurable manner. The problem definition ensures that everyone involved shares a common understanding of the area of concern. Furthermore, the definition must be objective and measurable (refers to observable characteristics of the behavior), defined in behavioral terms, and be related to the student's area of concern, which is identifiable (Telzrow et al., 2000). For the purposes of this study, the definition of the problem was assessed on the rubric through the critical questions listed on the Action Plan. If the problem was described in measureable, observable, or behavioral terms, and was related to academic or behavioral functioning, a Likert scale score of five on the Rubric was given. However, at the other extreme, if the target behavior was not identified, a Likert scale score of one was given. Scores of two, three or four were given based on specific criteria for each score that fell in between a score of one or five.

The second problem-solving component is baseline data, and this is described as a direct measurement of the target behavior in the natural setting before interventions are implemented. The baseline data serve as a means to verify the existence of a problem,

evaluate the effectiveness of interventions, and evaluate student progress. In addition, at least three data points are needed in order to provide a consistent illustration of the target behavior (Telzrow et al., 2000). For the current study, baseline data was assessed on the Rubric via information from the Action Plan, which clearly requests baseline data. If samples of direct measures of the student's behavior were reported (e.g., at least three data points), a Likert scale score of five was given. On the other end of the scale, a Likert scale score of one was given if only estimates about the student's performance were given.

Goal setting was the third problem-solving component. Goal setting is the act of stating the desired outcome that the intervention team would like to observe the student performing. In the present study, there is a specific place on the Action Plan to write the goal. It should be noted that goal statements are based upon a problem behavior and specify the time frame, condition, behavior, and criterion (how much and when) for which the behavior is to be performed. Furthermore, a goal statement should be stated in measurable terms (Telzrow et al., 2000). In this study, goal setting was assessed on the Rubric by way of the Action Plan as it has a specific place to write the goal and specifies to include measures of success. If the desired goal was stated with specific and clear criterion (e.g., how much and when), a Likert scale score of five was awarded. On the other hand, if there was not a specific goal stated, a Likert scale score of one was given.

Action plan development was the fourth problem-solving component and is equivalent to the Action Plan in this study. It specifies who is to be involved in implementing the intervention and when the intervention will begin. Other relevant information includes where and how the intervention will be implemented, as well as procedures and strategies to be followed (Telzrow et al., 2000). In this study, action plan development was assessed on the Rubric via the Action Plan. The more details about the logistics of the intervention, such as describing what would occur and when the intervention would take place, the higher the Likert scale score on the Rubric. If the plan was vague and only listed general information about the intervention, a lower Likert scale was given on the Rubric.

The fifth problem-solving component was not derived from Upah and Tilly (2002) or Telzrow et al. (2000). Rather, it was based on the conceptual needs related to the work of CPS for GEI teams and is named "interventions built on the student's strengths." This component was the only one in the study that was not based on the rubric developed by Telzrow et al. This is because generating student's strengths is unique to the CPS for GEI teams. These strengths are used in the process to help generate and choose interventions. The researcher used the rubric developed by Telzrow et al. as a guide to develop Likert scale ratings to address the component of interventions built on the student's strengths. Information from the Action Plan was used to determine Likert scale scores on the Rubric. Specifically, if the student's strengths were written on the Action Plan and the interventions chosen appeared to be based on at least two of the student's strengths, a Likert scale score of five was given. On the other extreme, if it did not appear as though the strengths were considered or were not even written on the Action Plan, a Likert scale score of one was given.

Student outcomes was the sixth problem-solving component. For the purposes of this study, the student outcomes were defined by measures on the Rubric and refer to student performance at follow-up in the CPS for GEI process as compared to baseline data. Specifically, a score of five on the rubric indicates that there is evidence the student's performance improved from baseline and the target goal was achieved or exceeded. On the other hand, a rubric score of one indicates that there was evidence that the student regressed compared to baseline. The student outcome data used includes a variety of data sources and is based on what each individual CPS for GEI team chose to use for the student, such as academic scores (e.g., spelling test scores, curriculum-based measurement probes, and similar data) or behavioral change scores (e.g., classroom observations using frequency counts or momentary time sampling). Information from the Action Plan and TAS was used to determine the Likert scale score regarding student outcomes. If there was evidence that performance improved from baseline and the target goal was achieved or exceeded, a Likert scale score of one was awarded.

Procedures

The data collected were part of a larger study and the university-based center granted the researcher permission to examine the data for the purposes of the study. This study was approved by a university review board on human subjects with all identifying information, including names of schools, names of school staff, and any identifying information concerning the students, unknown to the researcher. The project staff at the fall training identified and explained data collection procedures to the schools participating in CPS for GEI training. The project staff asked the teams to collect certain data that would be used for research purposes. These data included a Team Accomplishment Sheet (TAS) for each team and a corresponding Action Plan for each student in the process. To assure confidentiality, the names of schools, the GEI team members, and students in the process were coded and unknown to the researcher. Instead, student initials or case numbers were used to correspond with the individual TAS and Action Plan sheets. All participation was voluntary and teams could withdraw at any time during the study without consequences.

Interrater agreement was calculated from the Likert scale rubrics evaluating problem-solving components. The researcher served as the criterion rater. A school psychology graduate student served as the second rater. This second rater was trained by the researcher using the rubric and mock TASs and Action Plans. After the second rater was trained, she was given 20% of the data. A minimum criterion of 80% agreement on each of the six scales between the criterion rater and the second rater was the goal. For all cases available, interrater agreement was achieved at 88.16% (Agreements/Agreements + Disagreements X 100).

Design and Analysis

Research Question 1

For research question one, "How did students referred to the CPS for GEI teams progress based on student outcomes relative to the area of concern (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, or Math)?" two analyses were conducted. First, in order to determine if there was a difference in the distribution of student outcomes based on

area of concern, a 5 (Likert scale score of student outcomes) X 4 (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math) chi-square was conducted. For the chi-square, significance was determined by a criterion of p < .05. The Likert scale score was the dependent variable and the independent variable was the area of concern (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math). It was expected that when Language Arts is the area of concern student outcomes would be higher as compared to student outcomes when Behavior, Language Arts, Concern Student outcomes when Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts, Language Arts, Language Arts, Concerns.

Second, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine whether the average outcome scores by area of concern were statistically different. For this analysis, significance was determined by a criterion of p < .05. The average outcome scores was the dependent variable and the independent variable was the area of concern (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math). It was expected that when Language Arts was the area of concern average student outcome scores will be higher as compared to average student outcomes scores when Behavior, Language Arts and Math, or Math are the concerns.

Research Question 2

For the second research question, "Do schools trained in the CPS for GEI teams process differ in the overall quality of the action plans?" a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine the interaction effects of the factors. For this analysis, significance was determined by a criterion of p < .05. The overall plan quality was the dependent variable and independent variable, or factor, was the individual school. It was expected that overall plan qualities would differ across schools. If there were differences in overall plan qualities across schools, Fisher Least Significant Difference post hoc analyses was conducted to determine which group means differed from one another. For the post hoc analysis mean differences would be considered significant at the .05 level. *Research Question 3*

For research question three, "Is there a difference in student outcomes across schools?" a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine the interaction effects of the factors. For this analysis, significance was determined by a criterion of p < .05. The student outcomes scores on the rubric was the dependent variable and the independent variable, or factor, was the school. It was expected that there would be differences in student outcomes across schools. If there were differences in student outcomes across schools. If there were differences in student outcomes across schools, Fisher Least Significant Difference post hoc analyses was conducted to determine which group means differed from one another. For the post hoc analysis mean differences would be considered significant at the .05 level.

Research Question 4

For research question four, "What impact did the CPS for GEI teams process have on student outcomes in terms of problem-solving components, including definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on student strengths?" two analyses were conducted. First, a series of correlations was conducted in order to determine the strength of the relationship between the variables. For this analysis, correlation was considered significant at the .05 level. The rubric score for student outcomes was the dependent variable and the independent variable was the

problem solving component (definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths). It was expected that definition of the problem, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths would be correlated to student outcomes.

For the second analysis, a stepwise regression analysis was conducted to predict the variance in the dependent variable. The dependent variable was the student outcome and the independent variable was the problem-solving component (definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths). For this analysis, regression was considered significant at the .05 level. It was expected that definition of the problem, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on the student's strengths would predict student outcomes.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Data were collected from six schools trained in the CPS for GEI teams process in the fall of 2005. There were a total of 76 student cases available for analysis across the six schools, but only 32 cases included student outcomes data. A significance level of .05 was used to analyze the quantitative data because the sample size was small.

Student Outcomes by Area of Concern

The first research question, "How do students referred to the CPS for GEI process progress based on student outcomes (Likert scale scores) relative to the referral problem (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, or Math)?" was examined using outcome data derived from the TAS and the Action Plan, which was recorded on the Rubric. Likert scale scores ranged from one to five with higher scores reflecting higher quality indicators. For these analyses, a Likert scale score of five was given if there was evidence that the student's performance improved from baseline or met his or her goal. If however, the student regressed from baseline the lowest Likert scale score was given. Two analyses were conducted to answer this question. First, a 5 (Likert scale score for student outcomes) x 4 (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math) chisquare was used to analyze these data to ascertain the degree to which there was a difference in the distribution of student outcomes based on area of concern. Table 1 presents the frequencies and percentages for this data. The distribution of student outcomes was not significantly different, based on area of concern, $\chi^2(12, n = 32) = 11.85$, p = .458.

The outcome data can be considered interval level data because the scores from the rubric form a somewhat equidistant continuum. Therefore, an ANOVA was conducted to determine whether the average outcome scores by area of concern were statistically different (see Table 2 for means and standard deviations). Average student outcomes were not significantly different across areas of concern, F(3, 31) = 1.12, p =.356. Based on the results of this analysis, student outcome scores were not significantly different across areas of concern.

Quality of Plan by School

For the second research question, "Do schools trained in the CPS for GEI process differ in overall quality of action plans?" a one-way ANOVA was conducted. The overall rubric score was the dependent variable. Results indicated that the quality of the plans differed significantly by schools (see Table 3), F(5, 75) = 10.67, p < .001, $\omega^2 = .39$. Fisher Least Significant Difference post hoc analyses indicated that the action plans produced at School 102 (M = 11.63) received significantly lower ratings compared to the average overall quality scores awarded to each of the other schools with mean differences ranging from -9.34 to -6.22. The action plans from School 103 (M = 21.00) were significantly higher in quality compared to those produced by Schools 102, 104, 107, and

201 with mean differences ranging from 2.54 to 9.36. The action plans produced by the other schools on average were similar to one another.

Student Outcomes by Schools

For research question three, "Is there a difference in student outcomes across schools?" an one-way ANOVA was conducted (see Table 4). Student outcomes scores on the rubric were the dependent variable. There was a significant difference between the schools with regard to student outcomes, F(5, 31) = 5.68, p = .001, $\omega^2 = .42$. Fisher Least Significant Difference post hoc analyses showed that School 102 (M = 1.00) had the significantly lowest student outcomes, while School 103 (M = 4.89) had the significantly highest student outcomes. The other schools were similar to one another.

Student Outcomes and Problem-Solving Components

For research question four, "What impact did the CPS for GEI teams process have on student outcomes in terms of problem-solving components, including definition of the problem, baseline data, goal setting, action plan, and interventions built on student strengths?" a series of correlations were conducted (see Table 5). Four correlations were significant. First, setting a Goal and Baseline Data were significantly positively correlated (r = .34, n = 32, p = .003). Thus, if the quality of the Goal was high the quality of Baseline Data was also high. Second, Goal setting and Action Plan were significantly positively correlated (r = .52, n = 32, p < .001). Thus, if the quality of Goal Setting was high then the Action Plan quality was also high. Third, setting a Goal and Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths were significantly positively correlated (r= .44, n = 32, p < .001). Thus, if the quality of Goal was high the quality of Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths was also high. Finally, the Action Plan and Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths were significantly positively correlated (r = .47, n = 32, p < .001). Thus, if the Action Plan is quality was high then Building Interventions on the Student's Strengths was also high.

Multiple Regression Analysis Predicting Student Outcomes from Best Practice Indicators

In order to address the research question in this study related to the impact the CPS for GEI teams process had on student outcomes, a stepwise regression analysis using student outcomes as the dependent variable was conducted. The best practice indicators scores served as the independent variables. The only best practice indicator to enter the equation was Quality of Goal F(1, 30) = 22.29, t(4.72), p < .001, $R^2 = .41$. Based on this analysis, the higher the Quality of a Goal the more positively student outcomes were impacted.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to determine the impact on student outcomes of using the CPS for GEI team process. Specifically, some of Upah and Tilly's (2002) as well as some of Telzrow et al.'s (2000) best practice indicators/components were used in order to gain knowledge as to variables that better predict student outcomes when an intervention team uses the CPS for GEI process. Specifically, this study examined (a) how students referred to the CPS for GEI teams progressed based on student outcomes relative to the referral problem (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math); (b) the quality of action plans by school; (c) if student outcomes varied by school; and (d) the impact the CPS for GEI teams process had on student outcomes in terms of problem-solving components including (a) Definition of the Problem, (b) Baseline Data, (c) Goal Setting, (d) Action Plan, and (e) Interventions Built on the Student's Strengths.

Student Outcomes by Area of Concern

The distribution of student outcomes by area of concern (Behavior, Language Arts, Language Arts and Math, Math) was not significantly different when examining student outcomes by area of concern. It was hypothesized that if the area of concern was Language Arts then student outcomes would be higher, but support for this was not found. The lack of statistical significance may be due to the small sample size. In the present study, the data indicated a non-significant trend in the predicted direction. However, there were 25 plans with Language Arts as the main area of concern while other areas of concern (Behavior, Language Arts and Math, Math) only had 2 plans per area. In addition, upon review of the interventions developed by the teams, many of the interventions on the Action Plan were more or less accommodations (e.g., more time for tests, flashcards with a peer, etc.) as opposed to using an evidenced-based intervention (EBI), or an intervention that has been supported in research to work for a large population of students. Because EBIs by definition have been shown in research to yield positive results for students (Gortmaker, 2006), it is possible that if an EBI were used rather than an accommodation, student outcomes would have been apparent and most student performance would have likely increased from baseline.

Quality of Plan by School

A goal of an intervention team should be to address the area(s) of concern and design interventions to help the student achieve success through the use of an action plan (Wright, 2007). All schools in this study were trained in the CPS for GEI process with the creation of an Action Plan for the student being part of the process itself; however, it was interesting to note how the Action Plan differed across schools. The hypothesis that action plans would differ across schools was maintained. The action plans produced at School 102 received significantly lower ratings compared to the average overall quality scores awarded to each of the other schools. The action plans from School 103 were of significantly higher quality compared to those produced by Schools 102, 104, 107, and

201. The action plans produced by the other schools on average were similar to one another. Further investigation of the results indicates that even though Schools 104, 106, 107, and 201 were similar to one another in overall plan quality and did not significantly differ from the other schools, the means of their plans were still strong, indicating that these schools were doing an overall good job. Since all schools went through identical training, additional training for specific schools may be needed to review the importance of developing an action plan. The need for additional training could be identified by "coaches" available through the CPS for GEI project to support schools newly trained in the process. There were 76 cases total, but only 32 included student outcomes data. Therefore, it may also be possible that schools with lower scores simply needed to do a better job of recording data as the results may reflect data unavailable to the researcher in that the researcher had access only to archival data submitted to the university center by the schools.

Student Outcomes by School

The analysis comparing average outcome scores across schools found that there was a significant difference between the schools. School 102's student outcomes were significantly lower than all other schools; School 103's were significantly higher than all others. The fact that School 102 had only one data point that included student outcome data for this analysis, is an important consideration when interpreting the significance of this finding. While School 102 had eight action plans assessed, only one of the plans recorded student outcome data. Therefore, the results may not represent a consistent outcome pattern for this school as the sample size is small. Due to the fact that the

identities of the schools are unknown to the examiner, it is not possible to follow-up with School 102 to find out why student outcome data were missing; however, it is possible that the team did not have the data or simply did not record it properly. Rosenfield and Gravois (1996) make specific note of the importance of recording data by teams. Often these records are done in a partnership with the referring teacher and delivered to the receiving teacher the following academic year. Rosenfield and Gravois also stress that a centralized record of the interventions be kept for accountability purposes, especially in the event that future problems arise. Therefore, in the future, it will be important to stress the importance of recording student outcome data so that future school personnel who refer to the student's file know how the child performed in response to specific interventions given previously. Still, based on the data provided, there was a strong positive correlation between student outcomes and quality of the action plans at each school. Schools 104, 106, 107, and 201 resulted in student outcomes that were similar to one another. Although these data are not significantly different from the other schools, the mean student outcomes scores for these on the rubric were similar to one another with rubric scores of at least three to four, indicating average to above average results. The data indicate that most schools in the study did an adequate job of obtaining student outcomes data. Still, sample size may have again impacted the results. Based on results from this study, some schools produce better plans in general which were correlated with positive student outcomes. Research in this area is lacking and may prompt a future study.

Student Outcomes and Problem-Solving Components

Levinsohn (2000) indicated that just using a formalized problem-solving system, collecting data, and specifying the interventions will contribute to more appropriate referrals to special education. CPS for GEI is a formalized process and has been empirically demonstrated by McKinney (2001) to have a positive impact for schools. She demonstrated that the number of non-verifiable referrals to special education decreased when using CPS for GEI. The present study examined the CPS for GEI process to determine which best practice indicators (Definition of the Problem, Baseline Data, Goal Setting, Action Plan, and Intervention Built on Student's Strengths) were positively intercorrelated. Based upon the study conducted by Telzrow et al. (2000), which the present study replicates using CPS for GEI, both the Definition of the Problem and Goal Setting (also a factor in the study conducted by Fuchs et al., 1990) were hypothesized to predict student outcomes. In addition, Action Plan was hypothesized to predict student outcomes. Finally, a new indicator unique to this study and the CPS for GEI process, Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths, was also hypothesized to improve student outcomes. In the present study, there were four significant positive correlations: Goal Setting and Baseline Data; Action Plan and Goal Setting; Goal Setting and Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths; and Action Plan and Building Intervention Based on the Student's Strengths. The results indicated that if the team had baseline data they were significantly more likely to have a goal. If the team had a goal they also tended to have a solid action plan and goals built on the student's strengths. If the team had a solid action plan they tended to have interventions built on

the student's strengths. Based on the available data, it did not seem to matter if the teams had a well-defined problem. Taking into consideration the work conducted by Telzrow et al., as well as Bergan and Kratochwill's (1990), it was a bit surprising that definition of the problem was not correlated; however, this finding may be in part related to the small sample size used in this study. Another explanation as to why Definition of the Problem was not correlated may be because all schools do well with this component as it is stressed throughout the CPS for GEI process in stage one, Understanding the Challenge. Instead, setting goals, having a solid action plan, and Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths were correlated with student outcomes. These findings are not surprising as Telzrow et al. (2000) and Upah and Tilly (2002) indicate that goal setting and having a quality action plan are important indicators of student success. On the other hand, Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths is an original contribution to the literature in that this indicator is unique to the CPS for GEI process and has not been found in other processes for intervention teams as an indicator for student outcomes. This is the first time such a finding appears in research on teams. This finding supports the need to look at the uniqueness of each child and develop plans as such. It also provides a springboard for future research to help validate the importance of this indicator, especially since the sample size for this study was small.

Multiple Regression Analysis

An additional analysis was conducted to further investigate which best practice indicators specifically predicted student outcomes. Many of the problem-solving components were correlated with each other. This correlation may have prevented them

from accounting for additional significant amounts of variance in student outcomes, and, thus, from entering the regression equation. The only best practice indicator to significantly predict student outcomes was Quality of Goal, which explained approximately 41% of the variance in student outcomes. However, it is important to note that this is a high amount of variance to be explained by a single variable. This indicates that a solid goal, which includes stating the desired outcome with specific, clearly stated criterion levels indicated such as how much and when the goal will be met (Telzrow et al., 2000), will be the best predictor of positive student outcomes as opposed to the other factors and suggests that the GEI teams need to focus much of their efforts in developing a measurable goal to help predict student outcomes.

Based on previous research (e.g., Telzrow et al., 2000), it is a bit surprising that Definition of the Problem did not come up as a significant predictor of student outcomes. However, after examination of the raw data, it is possible that this indicator was not significant because the majority of rubric scores were in the average range. This suggests that most of the time, the teams correctly identified the problem, but it was not stated in behavioral terms.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. First, this study includes an overall sample size which was relatively small (n = 76). After removing all data that did not include student outcomes, which was a main area of investigation, the sample size was even smaller (n = 32). The small sample size makes generalization difficult. Furthermore, the data were not evenly distributed between the schools. Specifically, the available data

ranged from two cases at two schools to nine cases at one school (the other two schools had either one or five complete data sets).

Second, as was the case for Telzrow et al. (2000), the information provided by the schools was collected through case documentation, so it is possible that the schools implemented problem-solving components correctly and had student outcomes data, but this information was not reflected in the documentation available to the researcher for analysis. In addition, the researcher could not specifically investigate whether the interventions listed on the Action Plan were actually administered, and that they were administered as they were designed to be. With that in mind, the extent to which the Action Plan had treatment integrity is also a limitation of this study. Although the CPS for GEI process assumes that interventions developed will be implemented with integrity, checking for this is not part of the process. In addition, treatment integrity data was not available to the researcher from the TAS or Action Plans.

Third, the duration of the intervention/treatment was not taken into consideration as part of this study. Hunt et al. (2003) found that consistent implementation of a UPS, developed through a collaborative teaming process, increased the student's engagement in appropriate behaviors, or increased the amount of time the student engaged in positive behaviors, and also increased communications initiated by the students in the study. In the present study, the Action Plans did not consistently specify what interventions would continue and for how long, so length of treatment could not be considered.

A fourth limitation to this study relates to the assumption that student outcomes are a result of the GEI process and/or the action plan. Although it is plausible that the
interventions and CPS for GEI process impacted student outcomes, other factors also play a part, resulting in student outcomes that are often difficult to measure or were not available to the researcher. For instance, the child's home environment, motivation, health status, learning abilities, and other factors, both external and internal to the child, all impact student outcomes, but are beyond the scope of this study.

Future Research

Research examining GEI teams that utilize a prescribed approach may be a useful framework for studying student outcomes. Since training in specific GEI teams processes, such as the CPS for GEI process, is not only expensive, but also time consuming, convincing participants of the utility of being trained and using a specific problem-solving process is crucial to enhance team performance, which should ultimately enhance student outcomes. However, the current study adds to the literature suggesting that CPS for GEI is a worthwhile approach. Clearly, more research using the CPS for GEI process is needed. Future studies may include employing single-subject research designs, examining permanent products, comparing the goal to actual progress, and using multiple reporting sources (teacher, parent, and student). In addition, a similar study could be conducted using a larger sample. Finally, treatment integrity data may also be important to investigate in relation to student performance.

Additionally, a study similar to the present study may yield more significant results when a larger sample size is used. Furthermore, treatment integrity (i.e., if the intervention was implemented as it was intended), types of interventions (EBIs as compared to non-EBIs), and length of intervention may also impact student outcomes.

60

Future research could provide data regarding the current movement in education and support or disqualify suggestions of Congress to use EBIs as a means to determine response to interventions, which inevitably impacts special education eligibility.

Student outcomes vary between schools, as was evident in the present study. Research with larger sample sizes is needed to investigate the schools that produce higher quality plans in order to determine which best practice indicators (e.g., Goal Setting, Baseline Data, Action Plan) significantly predict positive student outcomes, as well as other factors that impact GEI teams. For instance, it may be interesting to determine whether support from administrators, knowledge of team processes, or availability of interventions affect student outcomes. Other factors that may impact student outcomes across schools may include GEI team size, the number of students referred to the team (i.e., whether teams are heavily burdened), school resources, expertise of the team, knowledge of effective interventions, and administrative support. Rathvon (2008), for example, makes a case for the involvement of administrators on GEI teams to provide effective leadership and allocate resources to support the needs of individual students.

Implications for GEI Teams

An intervention or problem-solving process is urged by Indiana's most recent special education regulations, (Indiana State Board of Education, 2008) to take place at the individual school level, and many schools meet this requirement through the use of a GEI team. Although Rosenfield and Gravois (1999) noted that not all schools use an intervention team approach because its effectiveness is often in question, they argue that a team may be more effective than one person's efforts. This is because a GEI team often

61

consists of persons from multiple disciplines, which results in multiple areas of expertise. Furthermore, IDEA allows school districts to allocate up to 5% of federal funds to develop and implement coordinated service systems to improve student outcomes (Telzrow & Tankersley, 2000). Thus, there is federal support for problem-solving approaches, such as CPS for GEI. Although data are still needed with regard to GEI teams, and specific team processes, such as CPS for GEI, data regarding student outcomes are especially needed since the basic objective of an intervention, or an intervention process, is to help students.

With that in mind, there is a federal movement for intervention teams to use EBIs and monitor student progress through a problem-solving process. Since problem-solving is a set of activities designed to eliminate the difference between what is and what could be with regard to the student's development using a systematic approach to change student outcomes, progress monitoring is a specific way to examine student outcomes at the individual level. The data, yielded from the progress monitoring, are part of a new movement in identifying certain disabilities in special education. The state of Indiana has allowed for monitoring of student progress to be one way of identifying a Specific Learning Disability (Indiana State Board of Education, 2008) to be used to consider certain eligibilities for special education, such as a Learning Disability. Therefore, using a systematic problem-solving approach as the CPS for GEI process, implementing EBIs with integrity and monitoring progress are one way to meet the federal and state mandates. Moreover, the CPS for GEI process lends itself easily to the steps involved in Response to Interventions, which, is a movement away from the test and place model in

62

the field of special education, and leans more toward a process to try EBIs in the classroom setting as part of the determining factors for eligibility decisions (e.g., Kovaleski, 2002). For example, the Response to Intervention process has many important steps that the CPS for GEI process could address. These steps include: behavioral definition of the problem, measuring performance in natural setting (i.e., baseline data), determining current status, and performance gap compared to peers, stating a goal, designing an action plan applying scientific instructional and behavior change principles (action plan), implementing interventions over a reasonable period of time with good treatment integrity, frequently monitoring progress, and making changes in the interventions as needed to improve effectiveness, evaluating results compared to peer performance and student goals, and making decisions based on data (Fuchs, Mock, Morgan, & Young, 2003; Prasse, 2005). Those involved in the CPS for GEI process may also want to consider a treatment integrity check for future reference. While not part of the CPS for GEI process itself, the sponsoring university-based program has provided schools trained in the specific problem-solving process with a list of best practice/evidenced-based interventions to support teams developing interventions. Thus, the CPS for GEI process has great potential to be used in the schools to benefit children and to satisfy the requirements of the new mandates under IDEA.

REFERENCES

- Bahr, M. W., Walker, K., Hampton, E. M., Buddle, B., Freeman, T. Ruschman, N., et al.
 (2006). Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention teams: A two-year evaluation study. *Remedial and Special Education*, 1, 27-41.
- Bahr, M. W., Whitten, E., Dieker, L., Kocarek, C. E., & Manson, D. (1999). A comparison of school-based intervention teams: Implications for educational and legal reform. *Exceptional Children*, 66, 67-83.
- Bergan, J. R., & Kratochwill, T. R. (1990). *Behavioral consultation and therapy*. New York: Plenum.
- Buddle, B., & Freeman, T. (2002, October). Creative Problem Solving for General
 Education Intervention teams: How to implement the process. Presented at a
 training for Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention teams,
 Indianapolis, Indiana.
- Buddle, B., Wolfe, P., Bahr, M. W., Littlejohn, W., Walker, K., & Miller, M. (2005).Using Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention teams.Manuscript in preparation.
- Carter, J., & Sugai, G. (1989). Survey on prereferral practices: Responses from state departments of education. *Exception Children*, 55, 298-302.

Chalfant, J. C., Pysh, M. V., & Moultrie, R. (1979). Teacher assistance teams: Five

descriptive studies on 96 teams. Remedial and Special Education, 10, 49-58.

- Fairweather, G. W., Sanders, D. H., & Tornatzky, L. G. (1974). Creating change in mental health organizations. New York: Plenum.
- Flugum, K. R., & Reschly, D. J. (1994). Pre-referral interventions: Quality indices and outcomes. *Journal of School Psychology*, 32, 1-14.
- Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. (1989). Linking assessment to instructional intervention: An overview. School Psychology Review, 15, 318-323.
- Fuchs, D., Fuchs, L. S., & Bahr, M. W. (1990). A scientific basis for the art of consultation. *Exceptional Children*, 57, 128-139.
- Fuchs, D., Fuchs, L. S., Bahr, M. W., Fernstrom, P., & Stecker, P. M. (1990). Prereferral intervention: A prescriptive approach. *Exceptional Children*, 56, 493-513.
- Fuchs, D., Mock, D., Morgan P. L., & Young, C. L. (2003). Responsiveness to intervention: Definitions, evidence, and implications for the learning disabilities construct. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 18, 157-171.
- Gortmaker, V. J. (2006). Improving reading outcomes for children with disabilities:
 Incorporating strategic and sequential experimental validation in the development
 of parent tutoring interventions for reading deficiencies. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 67, 1648.
- Graden, J. L., Casey, A., & Christenson, S. L. (1985). Implementing a pre-referral intervention system: Part I. The model. *Exceptional Children*, *51*, 377-384.
- Grimes, J. L. (2001). The impact of creative problem solving for general education intervention teams on team members' ratings of treatment acceptability.

Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN.

- Hayek, R. A. (1989). The teacher assistance team: A pre-referral support system. *Focus* on *Exceptional Children*, 20, 1-7.
- Hunt, P., Soto, G., Maier, J., & Doering, K. (2003). Collaborative teaming to support at risk and students with severe disabilities in general education classrooms. *Exceptional Children*, 69, 315-332.
- Hunt, P., Soto, G., Maier, J., Miller, E., & Goetz, L. (2002). Collaborative teaming to support students with AAC needs in general education classrooms. *Augmentative* and Alternative Communication, 18, 20-35.
- Indiana State Board of Education. (2002). Title 511 Article 7 Special Education, Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of Education.
- Indiana State Board of Education. (2008). Title 511 Article 7 Special Education, Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of Education.
- Isaksen, S. G., Dorval, K. B., & Treffinger, D. J. (2000). Creative approaches to problem solving: A framework for change. Buffalo, NY: Creative Problem Solving Group – Buffalo.
- Iwata, B. (1991). Applied behavior analysis as technological science. Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 24, 421-424.
- Kovaleski, J. F. (1995). Best practices in operating pre-referral intervention teams. In A.
 Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology III* (pp. 645-656), Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychology.

Kratochwill, T. R., & Bergan, J. R. (1990). Behavioral consultation in applied settings:

An individual guide. New York: Lower Academic/ Plenum.

- Levinsohn, M. R. (2000). Evaluating instructional consultation teams for student reading achievement and special education outcomes. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Dissertation Abstracts International, 62 (01), 128. (UMI No. 3001440).
- McDougal, J. L., Moody-Clonan, S., & Martens, B. K. (2000). Using organizational change procedures to promote the acceptability of prereferral intervention services: The school-based intervention team project. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 15, 149-171.
- McKinney, A. C. (2001). The use of Creative Problem Solving with General Education Intervention teams. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN.
- McNamara, K., & Hollinger, C. (2003). Intervention-based assessment: Evaluation rates and eligibility. *Exceptional Children*, 69, 181-193.
- Prasse, D. (2005). Special education decision making: Response to intervention. Paper presented at the Porter County Special Education Presentation, Loyola University Chicago.
- Rathvon, N. (2008). Effective school-based interventions: Evidenced-based strategies for improving student outcomes. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Rock, M. L., & Zigmond, N. (2001). Intervention assistance: Is it substance or symbolism? *Preventing School Failure*, 45, 153-171.
- Rosenfield, S., & Gravois, T. A. (1996). *Instructional consultation teams: Collaborating* for change. New York: Guilford.

- Rosenfield, S., & Gravois, T. A. (1999). Working with teams in the school. In C. R. Reynolds & T. B. Gutkin (Eds.), *The handbook of school psychology-Third edition* (pp. 1025-1040). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sheridan, S. M., Welch, M., & Orme, S. F. (1996). Is consultation effective? A review of outcome research. *Remedial and Special Education, 6*, 341-354.
- Telzrow, C. F. (1995). Best practices in facilitating intervention adherence. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology III* (pp. 501-510), Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychology.
- Telzrow, C. F., McNamara, K., & Hollinger, C. L. (2000). Fidelity of problem-solving implementation and relationship to student performance. *School Psychology Review*, 29, 443-461.
- Telzrow, C. F., & Tankersley, M. (Eds.) (2000). IDEA Amendments of 1997: Practice guidelines for school-based teams. Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Thomas, A., & Grimes, J. (Eds.). (2002). *Best practices in school psychology IV*. Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Truscott, S. D., Cohen, C. E., Sams, D. P., Sandborn, K. J., & Frank, A. J. (2005). The current state(s) of prereferral intervention teams: A report from two national surveys. *Remedial and Special Education*, 26, 130-140.
- Truscott, S. D., Cosgrove, G., Meyers, J., & Eidle-Barkman, K. A. (2000). The acceptability of organizational consultation with prereferral intervention teams. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 15, 172-206.

- Upah, K. R. F., & Tilly, W. D. (2002). Best practices in designing, implementing, and evaluating quality interventions. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology IV* (pp. 483-501). Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Welch, M., Brownell, K., & Sheridan, S. (1999). What's the score and game plan on teaming in schools? A review of the literature on team teaching and school-based problem-solving teams. *Remedial and Special Education*, 20, 36-49.
- Wright, J. (2007). *RTI Toolkit: A practical guide for schools*. Port Chester, NY: Dude Publishing.
- Zins, J. E., Heron, T. E., & Goddard, Y. L. (1999). Secondary prevention: Applications through intervention assistance programs and inclusive education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Frequencies and Percentages of Student Outcome Ratings by Area of Concern,

N = *32*

Area of	Significant	Some	No Change	Some	Significant
Concern	Improvement	Improvement		Regression	Regression
Behavior	0	0	0	0	2
	(0.00%)	(0.00%)	(0.00%)	(0.00%)	(100.00%)
LA	1	1	2	11	10
	(4.00%)	(4.00%)	(8.00%)	(44.00%)	(40.00%)
LA/Math	0	0	1	1	0
	(0.00%)	(0.00%)	(50.00%)	(50.00%)	(55.00%)
Math	1	0	0	1	1
	(33.30%)	(0.00%)	(0.00%)	(33.30%)	(33.30%)

Note. LA = Language Arts. LA/Math = Language Arts and Math.

Means and Standard Deviations of Student Outcomes by Area of Concern, N = 32

Area of Concern	N	Mean	SD
Behavior	2	5.00	0.00
LA	25	4.12	1.01
LA/Math	2	3.50	0.71
Math	3	3.33	2.08

Note. LA = Language Arts. LA/Math = both Language Arts and Math.

Means and Standard Deviations of Quality of Overall Plan by School

School	Mean	SD	п
102	11.63 a	2.45	8
103	21.00 _b	0.78	11
104	17.00 _c	3.65	27
106	18.00 _c	2.45	4
107	18.46 _c	1.71	13
201	17.85 _c	3.16	13
Total	17.46 _c	76	76

Note. Means that do not share subscripts differ significantly at p < .05 in the Fisher Least Significant Difference comparison.

Average Student Outcomes by School

School	Mean	SD	n
102	1.00 _a		1
103	4.89 _b	0.33	9
104	3.86 _c	1.35	7
106	4.00 _c		1
107	4.22 _c	0.67	9
201	3.20 _c	0.84	5
Total	4.06	1.11	32

Note. Means that do not share subscripts differ significantly at p < .05 in the Fisher Least Significant Difference comparison.

2 1 3 5 4 1. Definition of the .21 .18 .00 .16 --Problem 2. Baseline Data .34** .09 --.14 3. Goal Setting .52** .44** 4. Action Plan .47** ---5. Student's --Strengths

Correlations Between Problem-Solving Components, N = 32

Note. Only action plans with outcomes were included in this analysis. Student's

Strengths = Building Interventions Based on the Student's Strengths.

**p < .01.

Overall Pattern of Results Each Team Type Related to Telzrow et al. (2000) and Upah and Tilly's (2002) Best Practice Indicators								
Types of Teams →	MAT	SBIT	PIT	ICT	IAT	IBA	CET	CPS for
Problem- Solving Components ↓								GEI
Definition of the Problem**				X		X		X
Baseline Data**				X				X
Goal Setting**	х	X						X
Hypothesized Reason for the Problem*		X				X		
Action Plan**		X	X	X				X
Treatment Integrity**				X				
Student Response to Intervention*								
Pre- and Post- Intervention Comparison*							- - -	
Student Outcomes**				x		x	X	x

APPENDIX A – BEST PRACTICE INDICATOR TABLE

Note. *Derived from Telzrow et al. (2000). **Derived from both Upah and Tilly (2002) and Telzrow et al. (2000). MAT = Mainstream Assistance Teams. SBIT = School-Based Intervention Teams. PIT = Prereferral Intervention Teams. ICT = Instructional Consultation Teams. IAT = Intervention Assistance Teams. IBA = Intervention-Based Assessment. CET = Collaborative Educational Teams. CPS for GEI = Creative Problem Solving for General Education Intervention Teams.

APPENDIX B – TEAM ACCOMPLISHMENT SHEET (TAS)

CPS for GEI Team Accomplishment Sheet

School Year: _____ School: _____ Page 1 of ____

	Initial Masting							
	·····		,		1g		·	
Student Initials	M/ F	*Race	Grade/ Teacher Initials	Referring Individual Initials	**Primary Area of Concern	Date of Initial Meeting	Baseline Assess ment Data	Instru- ment Used

* 1) Please enter the child's race. The race entered should match the race
 A = American Indian B = Asian C = Hispanic D = African American E = White
 F = Multi-Racial

** 2) Please use the following codes to indicate area of concern.
 Identified by the parent/guardian and located in the child's permanent record.
 A = Language Arts B = Math C = Social Behavior D = Other

Updated 8/20/04

CPS for GEI (CONTINUED)

Team Accomplishment Sheet

School Year:	School:	Page 1 of
0011001 1001.		i ago i oi

Follow-Up Meeting(s)					Referral t	o Special Edu	acation Testing
Date of 1 st Follow-Up Mtg.	Updated Assessment Data	Date of 2 nd Follow-Up Meeting	Updated Assessment Data	Student still in GEI? Yes/No	Referred Yes/No	Referred by? Parent/Tea m	Found Eligible? Yes/No If yes, what area?
		l		ł			
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
				l			
		<u> </u>					
							:
							<u></u>
*** * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *				1			

Please enter the child's race. The race entered should match the race
 A = American Indian B = Asian C = Hispanic D = African American E = White F = Multi-Racial
 2) Please use the following codes to indicate area of concern.
 Identified by the parent/guardian and located in the child's permanent record.
 A = Language Arts B = Math C = Social Behavior D = Other

**

Updated 8/20/2004

APPENDIX C – ACTION PLAN

Action Plan

Student's Name: _____ Meeting Date: _____ Page: ____

Goal (Include Measure of Success): Current Baseline: _____ Updated Baseline:

Interventions Implemented to Achieve Goal:

Intervention	Who or what	Target Start	Degree of Success	What did
	can help?	Date/Actually implemented	S=Successful SS=Somewhat	you learn about the
		from when to when?	Successful U=Unsuccessful	student?

Other Interventions Implemented:

Intervention	Who or what can help?	Target Start Date/Actual	Degree of Success	What did you learn about the student?

Record the <u>strengths</u> (including hobbies, special interests, positive relationships) generated <u>during the meeting</u>.

□ GEI Team Follow-Up Meeting scheduled for____[Date] Please turn over Developed by the Indiana Creative Problem Solving Initiative

Developed by the Indiana Creative Problem Solving Initiative at Indiana State University, 2001, Rev. May, 2005